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Bessie Arnold, much admired for her pleasant 

personality, served as instructor in art for several 

years. Many people still remember with pleasure 

the hours in the old art studio in the White 

House. Professor James A. Harman instructed 

in violin during the sessions of 1916-1922 and has 

resumed such instruction since 1927. During the 

period of 1924-27 Miss Elizabeth Trappe had this 

work in charge. Miss Mary L. Richcreek assist­

ed in the voice department during 1919-20. As 

professor of ancient languages, Mr. Aubrey R. 

Coffman was added to the faculty in this year. 

Professor Minor C. Miller, although busily en­

gaged in his work as secretary of the State Sun­

day School work in Virginia, has still found time 

to act since 1921 as professor of religious educa­

tion. Miss Annamary Dean instructed in Eng­

lish, public speaking, and Latin; part of this work 

being in the academy; and acted as head of the 

dining room. Miss Mary M. Seebert (Mrs. E. M. 

Starr) revolutionized during 1920-22 the entire 

dining room system. Besides her work as dieti­

tian, Miss Seebert taught home economics. Her 

work during the two following sessions was ably 

carried on by Miss Lucille Gnagney. Since that 

time the work of the boarding department has 

been efficiently administered under the super­

vision of Miss Mollie E. Glick. In connection 

with the dining room I cannot fail to mention 

"Chef Roy." Roy's rolls and pies are remem-
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bered by many a Bridgewater student, when facts 

of science are forgotten. 

Profe�sor E. M. Starr, Miss Nellie M. Critzer, 

and Professor VanPelt all came to the college in 

1921. Miss Critzer, a versatile young woman, 

stayed only two sessions; but Professors Starr 

and VanPelt have remained the entire period. 

Both of their departments, chemistry and biol­

ogy, have grown in variety of courses; and it has 

been found necessary to enlarge the quarters of 

both, chemistry being moved into a room con­

structed under Memorial Hall, and biology (in 

the fall of 1929) to the former library room in 

Founders Hall. Professor M. J. Zigler, teacher 

of psychology and related subjects, is remem­

bered by his students as a man of thorough schol­

arship. Professor Edgar S. Kiracofe has served 

in various capacities, first in 1920-21 as teacher in 

the academy, along with his work as director of 

physical education; and later as professor of edu­

cation. During 1929-30 he was on leave of ab­

sence at the University of Virginia. Miss Rachel 

C. Laughlin, a little lady from Philadelphia, held

the position of associate professor of psychology

and education for the sessions of 1921-23. Pro­

fessor Wallace B. Varner, for one year, was as­

sistant professor of philosophy and psychology .

. Professor Nevin W. Fisher, one of the most per­

fect of pianists, served very efficiently as head of,

the music department from 1922 to 1925. Mrs.
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Fisher instructed in piano some of those years. 

After Professor C. C. Wright's appointment as 

dean, Professor N. D. Cool was made treasurer 

and business manager. 

Professor Nelson T. Huffman, Miss Minnie 

M ugler, and Mrs. Alice Dove, all became a part 

of the Bridgewater faculty in 1925. Professor 

Huffman is remembered and appreciated for his 

skill as a musician and also for his spirit of good 

fellowship. Professor F. D. Dove, a man of keen 

mind, has been associated with the faculty since 

1925 as associate professor of psychology and 

Biblical literature. Miss Ada Pearl Kurtz, an 

energetic and vivacious woman, acted as social 

director and associate professor of history for the 

years 1926-1928. She was followed by Miss Ruth 

I. Cline. Prior to this time several fine women

had been at the school in various positions-so­

cial director, matron, or preceptress: Mrs .. Mary

S. Barnes, Mrs. S. N. McCann, Mrs. A. B. Miller,

Mrs. Elizabeth Rothgeb, and Mrs. Dove Brower.

Miss Ruth E. Weybright, formerly instructor 

in piano at Blue Ridge College, and Miss Selma 

Grether, instructor in French, home economics, 

and physical education, were added to the fac­

ulty in the year 1927. Miss Grether was followed 

in the spring of 1929 by Miss Mano la F. Evers, 

and in the fall of 1929 by Miss Lillian Biltcliffe. 

In 1928 the following were added to the faculty: 

Dr. J. M. Henry, professor of history and politi-
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cal science; J. Emmert Stover, associate profes­
sor of voice and director of music; Joseph W. 
Miller, associate professor of agriculture and di­
rector of physical education; Mrs. Olive Dupler, 

nurse and matron; and Miss Georgie Shrum, in­
structor in art. Miss Olivia Cool was added to 
the faculty in the fall of 1929 to assist in the 
music and modern language departments. The 

expression department was re-established with 
Mrs. Grace B. Young in charge. During the same 
year the library, which was moved from its head­
quarters in Founders Hall to the basement room 
of Cole Hall, was placed under the care of a full 
time librarian, Miss Agnes V. Kline. 

In the academy during this period, until its re­
moval to Daleville, the full-time teachers were: 
Professor N. D. Cool, principal; Miss Waltine 
Brower; Miss Anna C. Driver, instructor in Eng­
lish and history; Miss May Hooker, instructor in 
French; Mr. E. S. Kiracofe, instructor in science 
and physical education, and Mr. H. L. Yager, 
instructor in mathematics and Latin. 

I cannot fail to mention here Dr. J. D. Miller, 

who has been faithfully serving as college phy­
sician since 1916. 

The following trustees served the college dur­
ing the period under consideration: 
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George S. Arnold, 1903-

A. C. Auvil, 1922-27

S. W. Baile, 1926-28

W.W. Bane, 1922

I. N. H. Beahm, 1913-24

E. E. Blough, 1922-

L. A. Bowman, 1925-28

S. I. Bowman, 1915-

S. J. Bowman, 1925-

S. L. Bowman, 1904-25

L. C. Coffman, 1925-26

W. P. Crumpacker, 1925-

J. A. Dove, 1925-

D. L. Evers, 1919-

Ezra Fike, 1923---

Levi Garst, 1925-27

S. H. Garst, 1925-

D. ·T. Gochenour, 1926-

C. P. Harshbarger, 1921-

W. R. Hooker, 1917-24

J. H. Hoover, 1919-

Roy M'.. Hoover, 1928-

J. W. Ikenberry, 1925-

L. N. Kinzie, 1927�

R. G. Layman, 1925-

Clayton B. Miller, 1926

H. G. Miller, 1906-1928

John D. Mi_ller, 1917-

Samuel D. Miller, 1915-

L. C. Moomaw, 1925-

J. C. Myers, 1917-

E. E. Neff, 1925-

S. P. Reed, 1925-

F. C. Rohrer, 1927-

W. H. Sanger, 1911-24

J.B. Shaffer, 1917-20

P. S. Thomas, 1919-1929

T. F. Valentine, 1928--­

D. E. Miller, 1929-

C. B. Smith, 1929-

B. T. Flora, 1929-

Probably no more fitting statement can be 

made concerning Mr. S. M. Bowman than that 

made by Dr. Flory to the board of trustees in 

June, 1919: 

I have yet to chronicle the loss of a very prominent 
and very valuable member of the board of trustees. Sam­
uel M. Bowman, who had served on your board for some 
fourteen years, died at the University of Virginia (hos­
pital) in January (1919). During the years of his mem­
bership on the board, he was a regular attendant at all of 
its meetings, unless prevented from doing so by ill 
health. He took a deep interest in all of the work of the 
college. He studied its needs and its mission and tinder-
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stood what the college was doing. Imbued with the vi­

sion of service that he saw through the agency of the col­
lege, he left to it practically his entire fortune, estimated 
to be at least $130,000. 

The vision of this Christian man has made 
possible a rich development of the college, not 
only by the adding of the departments of agri­
culture and home economics, for which he had 
specifically designated his bequest, but also in 
giving to the college the opportunity of acquir­
ing much valuable farm property. 

THE FUTURE COLLEGE CAMPUS 

It was during this ten-year period that a plan 
for the future development of the buildings and 
grounds of the college was laid. This plan has 
come into being and grown up through much 
pain and patience on the part of its projectors. 
In 1919 a committee of which Dr. Bowman was 
chairman, on a building program for the college, 
was appointed by the board of trustees. This 
committee favored the employing of an architect, 
and suggested as that architect Mr. Charles M. 
Robinson, of Richmond. It has been very diffi­

cult to awaken in the supporters of the college, 

and in the college constituency in general, a de­

sire for a well planned, well cared for campus. 

They, mainly as rural people, had not been used 
to thinking in terms of landscape architects and 
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architecture. But Mr. Robinson was employed, 
and he soon began to draft plans for the future 
college, specifically with relationship to a new 
heating plant, which was to be built at that time. 
Even though the plan of the campus has been 
changed twice since that time, the heating plant 
still occupies the lowest point on the enlarging 
campus. At first the plan was that the college 

and academy be on the same campus, the former 
on one side of College Street, the latter on the 
other. At that time the call!pus was much re­
stricted and even broken into by private property. 

From time to time, as opportunity offered, this 
property was bought and the campus extended in 
all directions, thus securing its opportunities for 
future development. 

Upon the union of Bridgewater and Daleville, 
Mr. H. M. Miller, of Roanoke, succeeded Mr. 
Robinson as architect. The plan of the campus 
was then altered. A final and complete plan as to 
grounds, walks, shrubbery, and buildings came 
about through contacts made with the extension 
department of Virginia Polytechnic Institute. By 
virtue of the fact that Bridgewater had co-oper­
ated in earlier years with that school in its farm­
ers' institute work, Mr. John R. Hutchinson, head 
of the extension department, secured the services 
of Mr. A. H. Reid, professor of landscape archi­
tecture, who came to Bridgewater, surveyed the 

grounds, and laid out the beautiful plans which 
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have been adopted by the college. All of this was 

done in the spirit of institutional fraternity. 

There was no charge. Not even traveling ex­

penses were accepted. 

In accordance with the plan of campus de­

velopment, Stanley Hall, now Memorial Hall, 

was moved in line with the other buildings and 

remodeled, and the recent buildings, the dining 

hall and Cole Hall, were located on the east side. 

It is probably true that no building on the cam­

pus is dearer to the hearts of the alumni than Me­

morial Hall. It was with this feeling that Pres­

ident Bowman suggested to the board of trustees 

that this building be made a repository for the 

memorials of the college. Upon this suggestion a 

committee on memorials was appointed. This 

committee has already placed in this hall four 

oil paintings and a bronze tablet. The bronze 

tablet, on the left wall of the entrance way, has 

inscribed upon it the names of the first board of 

trustees of the college. The first portrait to be 

hung was that of the founder of the institution, 

1Elder D. C. Flory. The portrait of Dr. W. B. 

Yount was presented to the college (1929) by 

eighteen friends and former students, as a tribute 

of friendship. Two other paintings, one a por­

trait of Mr. D. N. Eller and the other that of the 

building in which the school was begun at Spring 

Creek, also hang on the walls of this building. 
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Since the new buildings on the campus will 

be discussed elsewhere, I wish to mention them 

only briefly here. The new dining hall is a beau­
tiful and commodious building, with dormitory 

accommodations for about thirty young women. 

The dining room itself is one of the most beauti­

ful of college dining rooms to be found anywhere. 

It was first opened for use in September, 1929. 
Cole Hall, a building costing about $65,000, 

shows fineness of material and workmanship in 

every detail. This building provides an audi­

torium, with a seating capacity of seven hundred, 

and furnishes temporary library facilities in the 

basement. The ground was broken for this build­

ing at the commencement of 1929. 

None of us will live to see the complete ful­

fillment of this vision of the campus to be, for it 

looks a hundred or more years ahead; but a 

dream with such a tangible beginning as this is 

not one to be cast lightly aside, but one to be 

cherished for the hope and achievement of the 

years to come. 
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CHAPTER VI 

THE FOUNDERS AND EARLY HISTORY 

ByJ.M.HENRY 

In the summer of 1890 at the solicitation of B. F. 
rNininger and George G. Layman, Prof. I. N. H. Beahm 
agreed to leave the Magic City of Roanoke, Virginia, then 
· at its high water mark of booming, to teach a select
school at Daleville, Virginia. The pupils of Daleville
Select School made such diligent application and satis­
factory progress that during the summer 1891 a special
building was erected to supply pressing demands for a
larger school. Thus the Botetourt Normal was ushered
into existence-opening its work October 15, 1891---to

enter upon its mission of human good.

T
HE above quoted paragraph is copied from

the first catalog of Botetourt Normal. Ref­

erence is made to a "select school"-a private 

school conducted for the education of the chil­

dren of two families, namely, those of Benjamin 

Franklin Nininger and George G. Layman. This 

private school opened in the fall of 1890 in a 

small house, but was later moved to the home of 

B. F. Nininger; and then, in the second part of 

the year, to the Layman home. 

BENJAMIN F. NININGER 

No man had more to do with the founding of 

the Daleville school than B. F. Nininger. The 

writer of these sketches would be delighted to 

write many pages about the work and noble life 
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of this great and good man, but limited space will 

preclude a long account. In fact, it is not, after 

all, so much a question of words as ability of the 

writer to fully evaluate the work and life of Ben­

jamin Franklin Nininger, a quiet, refined, and 

Christian gentleman. Who can measure the in­

fluence of such a noble man? 

Benjamin F. Nininger possessed more than 

ordinary ability. He was a man of vision, keen 

judgment, sound principles of thinking; and was 

deeply pious. His thoughts were noble, acts 

kind, sympathies broad, love pure; and a man of 

character and strength. Many people never un­

derstood him fully, and few realized his real 

worth as a citizen. His reticence and quiet man­

ner of life, sometimes misunderstood, were points 

of strength. The writer learned to know him 

first as a student, then as a teacher, and also as an 

associate on the board of trustees, but best of all 

as a neighbor. It was my good fortune to live 

close by his home. Our informal chats in the 

garden, or at eventide, gave one an opportunity 

in some small degree to really know him. Then 

those helpful words to the young married couple, 

sometimes to the discouraged teacher, those acts 

of kindness and generosity about which the world 

knew so little, yet almost daily occurrences in the 

life of Benjamin Nininger, cannot be forgotten. 

Peter Nininger, the father of Benjamin, was a 

remarkable man for his day. He was a good bus-
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iness man, a minister of ability, and a public­
minded citizen who had great influence in his 
county and state. He was born in 1804 and died 
in 1890, the same year the "select school" was 
started at Daleville. He married Lydia Gish, 
who was born in 1806 and died in 1895. Prof. I. 
N. H. Beahm made his home in the Peter Ninin­
ger home the first year of the school. To the 
union of Peter and Lydia Gish Nininger were 
born seven sons and three daughters: Caleb, 
William, Jacob, Edward, Nathan, Christian, and 
Benjamin. They all became successful business 
men and prominent in financial circles of their 
day. 

Sara and Eliza married brothers-David and 
Lewis Huff. Lulu became the wife of Theodore 
C. Denton. Benjamin was born January 26,
1848. He was baptized in 1890, when his beloved
daughter, Flora Mae, then sixteen years old,
came to the church. The baptism took place in
the pool on T. C. Denton's farm.

Benjamin F. Nininger was united in marriage 
to Ann Maria Denton February 25, 1869. A kind 
Heavenly Father pilgrimaged this devoted couple 
through fifty years of happy married life. They 
celebrated their golden anniversary in 1919, six 
months before the passing of the beloved wife on 
August 12, 1919. 

The home life of B. F. and Ann Maria Ninin­
ger was beautiful in love and sublime in devotion. 
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Their union was blessed with three sons: Elmer, 

Edgar D., and Robert P.; and six daughters: 

LaBirda, Flora Mae, Bennie, Estelle, Mary, and 

Gladys. 

Benjamin F. Nininger was a pioneer in the 

orchard industry. He planted his peach orchard 

the same year that John C. Moomaw began his 

career as an orchardist. These men pioneered in 

that industry, which has brought so much wealth 

to Botetourt County. The Nininger orchards at 

Daleville, among the best in the South, were 

planted in 1872 by B. F. Nininger, whose keen in­

sight saw the possibilities of the industry when 

others were doubtful. The passing years have 

proved the wisdom of the adventure. 

The business principles on which B. F. Ninin­

ger conducted his entire business career were 

lofty and noble. His motto was: "Make a friend 

but never lose a friend." He was kind to his lab­

orers. Only once can it be recalled that he ever 

spoke a bad word. While hitching up a horse 

one day, under a quick impulse, he said a rough 

word to the horse, but immediately apologized to 

his sons lest a wrong impression should be le£ t. 

A life like that is born of noble character and true 

manhood. 

Benjamin F. Nininger was a very generous 

man with his material possessions, but his policy 

was to have as little said about his gifts as pos­

sible. None but the Eternal God will ever know 



T. C. Denton B. F. Nininger 

J. A. Dove C. S. Ikenberry

Four Friends of Daleville College 



THE FOUNDERS 165 

the extent of his gifts. No attempt is made here 

to record any gifts except the ones found in the 

minutes of the board of trustees. B. F. Nininger 

and T. C. Denton donated the first books for the 

library. On April 18, 1900, these two men paid 

off a debt on the school amounting to $2,564.25, 

and a vote of thanks was extended to them by the 

board. On January 9, 1903, the men's dormitory 

burned, and at a call meeting of the board, the 

generosity of Brethren Nininger and Denton was 

again manifested. B. F. Nininger was made 

chairman of the building committee. 

The minutes of June 24, 1912, record that B. 

F. Nininger and T. C. Denton donated and paid

out $1,631.58 for improvement on' the executive

home and heating plant, and thus these gifts con­

tinued. It is hard to see how Daleville College

could have existed if it had not been for the gen­

erosity of B. F. Nininger and his close colaborer,

T. C. Denton.

FLORA MAE NININGER · 

There is one other person whose work and 

spirit had much to do with the early days of 

Botetourt Normal. This record would be incom­

plete if the noble acts and deeds of that sainted 

young woman, Flora Mae Nininger, were omit­

ted. In those trying hours, when other hearts 



166 BRIDGEWATER-DALEVILLE 

were faint and discouraged
,, 
her faith and courage 

gave new life and vision. 

No person ever meant more to the life of the 

young people of her community than Flora Mae. 

She was a born leader, endowed with charming 

personality, musical talent, and became the first 

music teacher of the school at Daleville. She 

loved her work and literally gave her young and 

noble life for the cause of Christian education. 

The young people loved and followed her leader­

ship. She had the rare genius of seeing the good, 

the true, and the beautiful in all things. It was 

due to her faith and vision that the Botetourt 

Memorial Missionary Society was organized. 

Her example set the pace for the missionary 

spirit which has dominated the life of so many 

young people in our colleges. 

Flora Mae Nininger was born May 7, 1874. 

She united with the church at the age of sixteen 

and graduated from Botetourt Normal in the 

year 1893. The three graduates that year were 

Flora Mae Nininger, Frank M. Stutsman, and 

Anna Layman-the first graduating class com­

pleting the ,English Scientific Course. Flora Mae 

was appointed teacher of music and elocution in 

the spring of 1893 and held that position until her 

death on September 9, 1896. Her work is remem­

bered and talked about by all who knew her. She 

completed only twenty-two years of her earthly 

pilgrimage, but she lived such a .grand life in that 
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short space that she lived many years longer 
than most people, if her life is to be measured in 

deeds of love and service. 
Thus Benjamin Franklin Nininger, noble, 

Christian gentleman, and his beloved and saint­
ed daughter, Flora Mae, builded better than they 
knew. Their labors are over, but their good 
works do follow after them. 

THEODORE C. DENTON 

When the news was spread abroad on Sunday 
evening, January 18, 1914, that the chairman of 
the board of trustees of Daleville College, since 
its beginning, had passed into Eternity a pall of 
gloom fell over the community. Theodore C. 
Denton, son of Robert and Ann Moomaw Den­
ton, was born October 11, 1848, and passed to his 
reward after sixty-six years of useful life. His 
father, Robert Denton, was a carpenter by trade. 
Robert built the old Valley Church near Dale­
ville, which housed the strongest Dunker congre­

gation in the South in the days of B. F. Moomaw, 

Peter Nininger, David Plain, John C. Moomaw, 

and Jonas Graybill. The carpenter-Robert 

Denton-lived just across the road from the old 

· Valley Church. He married Ann Moomaw, of

the famous Benjamin Moomaw family. To this

union were born one son and two daughters.

It should be recorded to the everlasting credit 
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of Robert and Ann Denton that they were the 

parents of three children who became the real 

founders of higher education at Daleville. Ann 

Maria Denton married B. F. Nininger, and her 

name should be placed on the honor roll of the 

founders. She possessed unusual ability and 

keen power as a wise counselor. The first ses­

sion began in her home, and Ann Maria Nininger 

had a large part in the plans and success of her 

husband. 

Albina Denton was the first-born of Robert 

and Ann Denton. She was born January 25, 

1846. She married George G. Layman, and had 

much to do with the establishment of the school 

at Daleville. The second half of the first session 

of the "select school" in 1890 was held over her 

kitchen. 

Theodore, the only son, was the second child. 

He became a successful farmer, fruit-grower, can­

ner, and banker, and as a result of his thrifty 

habits of life he became a man of large means; 

but with all of his business success T. C. Denton 

was always conscious of his stewardship. 

He was baptized in 1874 at the age of twenty­

six. Eight years later he was elected deacon, and 

was called to the ministry in 1884; then advanced 

to second degree in 1887. In 1898 he was or­

dained to the eldership and served faithfully in ali 

of these offices. He was not a fluent speaker, but 


